#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC03-416** 

#### THOMAS GUDINAS,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

# STATE OF FLORIDA and

JAMES CROSBY, Secretary, Florida Department of Corrections,

Appellees/Respondents,

# INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT/PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

LESLIE ANNE SCALLEY
Florida Bar No. 0174981
Assistant CCC
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Rule 3.851 relief to Thomas Gudinas' sentence of death. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R"-- the instant record on appeal to this Court

"Tr"-- the first record on direct appeal to this Court

"Pcr"-- the first postconviction record on appeal to this Court

All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained herein.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 15, 1994, Mr. Gudinas was indicted by a grand jury for one count of premeditated first degree murder, two counts of sexual battery, attempted sexual battery, and attempted burglary with an assault. He plead not guilty to all counts.

On October 5, 1994, Mr. Gudinas filed a Motion To Dismiss Indictment Or To Declare That Death Is Not A Possible Penalty, premised upon the indictment's failure to allege the presence of aggravating circumstances essential to the charge of a capital offense (Tr. 291-92). Mr. Gudinas also filed Motion For Statement Of Aggravating Circumstances, wherein he sought notification of the aggravating circumstances upon which the state intended to rely in order to sustain a request for a sentence of death and (Tr. 318-21, 455). The court denied the motions (Tr. 454-55).

Mr. Gudinas was tried by a jury May 1-4, 1995, and found guilty of all counts, including "murder in the first degree, as charged in the indictment." (Tr. 542). After a penalty phase conducted on May 8-10, 1995, the jury recommended death by a vote of ten to two (Tr. V5, 562). On June 16, 1995, the circuit court sentenced Mr. Gudinas to death. This Court affirmed the convictions and sentences. *Gudinas v. State*, 693 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1997). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. *Gudinas v. Florida*, 522 U.S. 936 (1997).

Mr. Gudinas filed a 3.850 motion for postconviction relief on June 5, 1998. The circuit court granted it in part and granted leave to amend. After two amendments and an evidentiary hearing on a claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel, the court denied relief (PCRV7, 132). Mr. Gudinas appealed the denial to this Court and filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus. This Court affirmed the circuit court and denied habeas relief. *Gudinas v. State*, 816 So.2d 1095 (Fla.2002).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 28, 2002, this Court issued its opinion in *Gudinas v. Moore*, 816 So.2d 1095 (Fla.2002), in which this Court denied Mr. Gudinas habeas relief. This Court upheld its opinion in *Mills v. Moore*, 786 So.2d532, 536-39 (Fla.2001), that *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), does not apply to the Florida capital sentencing scheme. In *Mills*, this Court held "[b]ecause <u>Apprendi</u> did not overrule

Walton, the basic scheme in Florida is not overruled either." *Id.* at 536. To support this opinion, this Court relied on the language in *Apprendi* which states:

Finally, this Court has considered and rejected the argument that the principles guiding our decision today render invalid state capital sentencing schemes requiring judges, after a jury verdict holding a defendant guilty of a capital crime, to find specific aggravating factors before imposing a sentence of death.

*Id.* at 537, *citing Apprendi*, 530 U.S. at 496.

On June 24, 2002, the United States Supreme Court issued the opinion in *Ring v. Arizona*, overruling *Walton v. Arizona*, 497 U.S. 639 (1990):

Walton and Apprendi are irreconcilable; our Sixth Amendment jurisprudence cannot be home to both. Accordingly, we overrule Walton to the extent that it allows a judge, sitting without a jury, to find an aggravating circumstance necessary for imposition of the death penalty. See 497 U.S., at 647-649. Because Arizona's enumerated aggravating factors operate as 'the functional equivalent of an element of a greater offense,' Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 494, n. 19, the Sixth Amendment requires that they be found by a jury.

Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002).

On October 14, 2003, Mr. Gudinas filed the Rule 3.851 motion at issue, challenging his death sentence in light of *Ring v. Arizona*. Subsequently, on October 24, 2002, this Court rendered opinions in *Bottoson v. Moore*, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla.2002), and *King v. Moore*, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla.2002). The circuit court

held a hearing on the motion on January 7, 2003, (R15-38). In an order rendered on January 16, 2003, the circuit court denied relief (R247-48). Though this Court has rejected similar challenges in and since *Bottoson v. Moore*, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla.2002), and *King v. Moore*, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla.2002), to preclude any future arguments of waiver, abandonment, or procedural bar by the State of Florida and to perfect claims for future federal review, Mr. Gudinas filed a notice of appeal, and these proceedings follow.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The process under which Mr. Gudinas was sentenced to death violated the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and corresponding Florida law because it did not allow the jury to reach a verdict with respect to an aggravating fact that is an element of the aggravated crime punishable by death, and Mr. Gudinas did not have notice of the crimes for which he was being tried.

#### **ISSUE I**

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT MR. GUDINAS' DEATH SENTENCE DOES NOT

VIOLATE THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

#### A. Standard of Review

This is a legal question of constitutional magnitude so the appropriate standard of review is de novo. *See e.g. Stephens v. State*, 748 So.2d 1028, 1032-33 (Fla.2000).

#### **B.** Introduction

The United States Supreme Court decided *Ring v. Arizona*, 122 S.Ct. 2428, on June 24, 2002. The Court held that the Arizona statute pursuant to which, following a jury adjudication of a defendant's guilt of first-degree murder, the trial judge, sitting alone, determines the presence or absence of the aggravating factors required by Arizona law for imposition of the death penalty, violates the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial in capital prosecutions; receding from *Walton v. Arizona*, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047, 111 L.Ed.2d 511(1000). If a State makes an increase in a defendant's authorized punishment contingent on the finding of a fact, that fact—no matter how the State labels it—must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. A defendant may not be exposed to a penalty *exceeding* the maximum he would receive if punished according to the facts reflected in the jury verdict alone. The Court noted that the "right to trial by jury guaranteed by the

Sixth Amendment would be senselessly diminished" if it encompassed the fact-finding necessary to increase a noncapital defendant's sentence by a term of years, as was the case in *Apprendi*, but not the fact-finding necessary to put him to death. *Ring*, 122 S.Ct. at 2243.

C. Florida's Death Penalty Statutory Scheme Violates the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the Corresponding Provisions of the Florida Constitution.

In Florida, death is not within the maximum penalty for a conviction of first degree murder. Florida Statute 775.082 (1994) provided:

A person who has been convicted of a capital felony shall be punished by life imprisonment and shall be required to serve no less than 25 years before becoming eligible for parole unless the proceeding held to determine sentence according to the procedure set forth in s. 921.141 results in findings by the court that such person shall be punished by death, and in the latter event such person shall be punished by death.

Fla. Stat. § 775.082\_(1984). The statutory scheme does not permit a sentence greater than life predicated on the jury verdict alone. A penalty phase must then be conducted under 921.141. While the jury gives a recommendation, it is the judge who makes the findings and imposes the sentence.

In *Walton v. Arizona*, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047, 111 L.Ed.2d 511 (1990), the United States Supreme Court recognized that for purposes of the Sixth

Amendment, Florida's death penalty statute is indistinguishable from the statute invalidated in Ring:

We repeatedly have rejected constitutional challenges to Florida's death sentencing scheme, which provides for sentencing by the judge, not the jury. *Hildwin v. Florida*, 490 U.S. 638, 109 S.Ct. 2055, 104 L.Ed.2d 728 (1989) (*per curiam*); *Spaziano v. Florida*, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984); *Proffitt v. Florida*, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (1976). In *Hildwin*, for example, we stated that "[t]his case presents us once again with the question whether the Sixth Amendment requires a jury to specify the aggravating factors that permit the imposition of capital punishment in Florida," 490 U.S., at 638, 109 S.Ct., at 2056, and we ultimately concluded that "the Sixth Amendment does not require that the specific findings authorizing the imposition of the sentence of death be made by the jury."

*Id.*, at 640-641, 109 S.Ct., at 2057.

The distinctions Walton attempts to draw between the Florida and Arizona statutory schemes are not persuasive. It is true that in Florida the jury recommends a sentence, but it does not make specific factual findings with regard to the existence of mitigating or aggravating circumstances and its recommendation is not binding on the trial judge. A Florida trial court no more has the assistance of a jury's findings of fact with respect to sentencing issues than does a trial judge in Arizona.

*Id.* at 647-48. The Court reiterated this Sixth Amendment link between the Florida and Arizona capital sentencing schemes in *Ring*:

In *Walton v. Arizona*, 497 U.S. 639 (1990), we upheld Arizona's scheme against a charge that it violated the Sixth Amendment. The Court had previously denied a Sixth

Amendment challenge to Florida's capital sentencing system, in which the jury recommends a sentence but makes no explicit findings on aggravating circumstances; we so ruled, *Walton* noted, on the ground that 'the Sixth Amendment does not require that specific findings authorizing the imposition of the sentence of death be made by the jury' *Id.* at 648 (quoting *Hildwin v. Florida*, 490 U.S. 638, 640-641 (1989)(*per curium*). *Walton* found unavailing attempts by the defendant-petitioner in that case to distinguish Florida's capital sentencing system from Arizona's. In neither State, according to *Walton*, were the aggravating factors 'elements of the offense'; in both States, they ranked as 'sentencing considerations' guiding the choice between life and death. 497 U.S. at 648 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. at 2433.

## 1. Application of *Ring* to Florida's Sentencing Scheme

This Court has previously held that, "[b]ecause *Apprendi* did not overrule *Walton*, the basic scheme in Florida is not overruled either." *Mills v. Moore*, 786 So.2d 532, 537 (Fla. 2001). *Ring* overruled *Walton*, and the basic principle of *Hildwin v. Florida*, 490 U.S. 638 (1989) (*per curiam*), which had upheld the capital sentencing scheme in Florida "on grounds that 'the Sixth Amendment does not require that the specific findings authorizing imposition of the sentence of death be made by the jury." *Ring*, 122 S.Ct. at 2437(*quoting Walton*, 497 U.S. at 648, *in turn quoting Hildwin*, 490 U.S. at 640-641)). Additionally, *Ring* undermines the reasoning of this Court's decision in *Mills* by recognizing (a)

that *Apprendi* applies to capital sentencing schemes, <sup>1</sup> *Ring*, 122 S.Ct. at 2432 ("Capital defendants, no less than non-capital defendants . . . are entitled to a jury determination of any fact on which the legislature conditions an increase in their maximum punishment"); (b) that States may not avoid the Sixth Amendment requirements of *Apprendi* by simply "specif[ying] 'death or life imprisonment' as the only sentencing options," *Ring*, 122 S.Ct. at 2441-41, and (c) that the relevant and dispositive question is whether under state law death is "authorized by a guilty verdict standing alone." *Ring*, 122 S.Ct. at 2441.

Under Arizona law, after the jury's guilty verdict, the judge determined the existence or nonexistence of statutorily enumerated "aggravating circumstances" and any "mitigating circumstances." The death sentence could be imposed only if the judge finds at least one aggravating circumstance and no mitigating circumstances sufficiently substantial to call for leniency. A.R.S. §§ 13-703(C). Under Florida law, the trial judge conducts a separate sentencing proceeding after which the jury renders an advisory verdict. Fla.Stat. §§ 921.141. The ultimate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In *Mills*, this Court said that "the plain language of *Apprendi* indicates that the case is not intended to apply to capital [sentencing] schemes." *Mills*, 786 So.2d at 537. Such statements appear at least four times in *Mills*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> *Mills* reasoned that because first-degree murder is a "capital felony," and the dictionary defines such a felony as "punishable by death," the finding of an aggravating circumstance did not expose the petitioner punishment in excess of the statutory maximum. *Mills*, 786 So.2d at 538.

decision to impose a sentence of death, however, is made by the court after finding at least one aggravating circumstance. The jury recommends a sentence but makes no explicit findings on aggravating circumstances. Fla. Stat. § 921.141(3) provides that:

- (3) Findings in support of sentence of death.-Notwithstanding the recommendation of a majority of the
  jury, the court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating
  circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or
  death, but if the court imposes a sentence of death, it shall
  set forth in writing its findings upon which the sentence of
  death is based as to the facts:
- (a) That sufficient aggravating circumstances exist as enumerated in subsection (5), and
- (b) That there are insufficient mitigating circumstances to outweigh the aggravating circumstances.
- it must "set forth in writing its findings upon which the sentence of death is based."

*Ibid.* Thus, 921.141(3) requires that the trial judge make two separate findings of fact before a death sentence can be imposed: the judge must find as a fact that (1) "sufficient aggravating circumstances exist" and (2) "there are insufficient mitigating circumstances to outweigh the aggravating circumstances." *Id.* A defendant thus may be sentenced to death only if the sentencing proceeding "results in findings by the court that such person shall be punished by death." Fla. Stat. §775.082(1).

The statute is explicit that, without these required findings of fact by the trial judge, the defendant must be sentenced to life imprisonment: "If the court does not

make the findings requiring the death sentence within 30 days after the rendition of the judgment and sentence, the court shall impose [a] sentence of life imprisonment." Fla. Stat. §921.141(5).

This Court has held that the trial court must "independently weigh the evidence in aggravation and mitigation," and that "[u]nder no combination of circumstances can th[e] [jury's] recommendation usurp the judge's role by limiting his discretion." *Eutzy v. State*, 458 So.2d 755, 759 (Fla.1984), *cert. denied*, 471 U.S. 1045, 105 S.Ct. 2062, 85 L.Ed.2d 336 (1985). In one case, this Court vacated a sentence because the trial court had given "undue weight to the jury's recommendation of death and did not make an *independent* judgment of whether or not the death penalty should be imposed." *Ross v. State*, 386 So.2d 1191, 1197 (1980) (emphasis added). Further, for purposes of sentencing, the jury's guilt-phase findings cannot be conclusive as to the existence of any aggravating factor, and the judge is required by the statute to make separate findings at sentencing to support any such factor. Fla. Stat. § 921.141(3).

Because the Florida death penalty statutory scheme requires fact-finding by the trial judge before a death sentence may be imposed, it is unconstitutional under the principles announced in *Ring*. Like the Arizona statute, the Florida statute violates the rule enunciated in *Ring* and *Apprendi* that "[i]f a state makes an increase in a defendant's authorized punishment contingent on a finding of a fact,

that fact . . . . must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt." Just as the Arizona statute, the Florida statute mandates that a defendant "cannot receive a death sentence unless a judge makes the factual determination that a statutory aggravating circumstance exists. Without that critical finding, the maximum sentence to which the defendant is exposed is life imprisonment, and not the death penalty." Because the judge — and not the jury — must make specific findings of fact before a death sentence under Florida law, *Ring* holds squarely that the statute is unconstitutional under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

2. The Role of the Jury in Florida's Capital Sentencing Scheme Neither Satisfies the Sixth Amendment, nor Renders Harmless the Failure to Satisfy *Apprendi* and *Ring* 

The fact that the Florida statutory scheme, unlike that of Arizona, provides for an advisory jury verdict has no bearing on the analysis set out above. Such a conclusion is refuted by United States Supreme Court cases which inescapably link the schemes. E.g. *Walton* at 648; *Ring* at 2437. The trial judge is directed by Section 921.141(3) to make the fact findings necessary to support a death sentence "notwithstanding the recommendation of the majority of the jury." Unless the judge makes the "finding requiring the death sentence," the defendant must be sentenced to life. The jury's advisory verdict does not alter the controlling point under *Ring*; the Florida statute is unconstitutional because a death sentence cannot be imposed without fact findings by the trial judge. Ring requires that: "All the facts which

must exist in order to subject the defendant to a legally prescribed punishment must be found by the jury." 122 S.Ct. at 2240. Nothing in Florida law permits the imposition of a death sentence based on the jury's findings of fact. To the contrary, Florida law provides that the jury's role is merely advisory and that the trial court must undertake the requisite fact-finding. Section 921.141(3) explicitly requires the court to "set forth its findings . . . .as to the facts" supporting a death sentence.

### 3. Florida Juries Do Not Make Findings of Fact

This Court has rejected the idea that a defendant convicted of first degree murder has the right "to have the existence and validity of aggravating circumstances determined as they were placed before his jury." *Engle v. State*, 438 So.2d 803, 813 (Fla. 1983), *explained in Davis v. State*, 703 So.2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 1997). The statute specifically requires the judge to "set forth . . . findings upon which the sentence of death is based as to the *facts*," but asks the jury generally to "render an advisory sentence . . . based upon the following *matters*" referring to the sufficiency of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Fla. Stat. § \$921.141(2) & (3) (emphasis added). Because Florida law does not require that any number of jurors must agree that the State has proven the existence of a given aggravating circumstance before it may be deemed "found," it is impossible to say that "the jury" found proof beyond a reasonable doubt of a particular

aggravating circumstance. Thus, "the sentencing order is 'a statutorily required personal evaluation by the trial judge of the aggravating and mitigating factors' *that* forms the basis of a sentence of life or death." Morton v. State, 789 So.2d 324, 333 (Fla. 2001) (quoting Patton v. State, 784 So.2d 380 (Fla. 2000)).

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