IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS LEE GUDINAS, Appellant,

V. STATE OF FLORIDA. CASE NO. SC03-416

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Gudinas' claim based upon Apprendi v. New Jersey and Ring v. Arizona is procedurally barred because it was raised and decided in Gudinas' prior state post-conviction proceedings which were concluded some seven months prior to the filing of this Rule 3.851 motion. This Court should deny relief based upon procedural bar grounds in order to protect the independence and adequacy of Florida's well-settled State procedural rules. In addition to being procedurally barred under settled Florida law, the Apprendi/Ring claim is meritless under the decisions of this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. THE RING V. ARIZONA DECISION DOES NOT AFFECT FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY LAW²

² Even though the Florida Supreme Court has already decided this claim against him, Gudinas makes this claim despite the complete dissimilarity of the Florida and Arizona statutes, and despite the fact that no decisions of the United States Supreme Court upholding the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty statutes were invalidated, criticized, or otherwise

PRELIMINARY MATTERS

Gudinas claims that the United States Supreme Court's Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), decision invalidates Florida's long-upheld capital sentencing structure. There are three fundamental reasons why the Apprendi/Ring argument fails: that claim is procedurally barred; Gudinas' death sentence supported by aggravators that fall outside any interpretation of Apprendi/Ring; and, the statute under which Gudinas was sentenced to death provides that, upon conviction for capital murder, the maximum possible sentence is death, unlike the statute at issue in Ring. Ring clarified that Apprendi applied to capital cases, and partially overruled Walton v. Arizona, 497 (1990), which had been decided based misunderstanding of Arizona death penalty law. The fundamental issue in Ring, and the rationale behind the result, rests on the United States Supreme Court's misinterpretation of Arizona's capital sentencing statute. Ring at 603-5. However, Ring has no

called into question in Ring.

³ The Ring Court determined that Apprendi and its impact on the prior decision in Walton required clarification (or correction of the Court's understanding) of the role of the jury in Arizona capital sentencing. Nothing in that decision changed the dynamic of Florida's capital sentencing scheme under Apprendi and Ring.

application to Florida's death sentencing scheme because the Court did **not** misinterpret **Florida** law -- Gudinas' claim that Florida's statute fails because Walton has been overruled is predicated upon the false (and demonstrably incorrect) assertion that Florida and Arizona have functionally identical capital sentencing statutes. That is simply not true, and, even ignoring the clear procedural bars and the total legal inapplicability of Ring to the facts of this case, the basic difference between Arizona and Florida law is dispositive of Gudinas' claims.

A. THE RING CLAIM IS NOT AVAILABLE TO GUDINAS BECAUSE IT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED, BECAUSE IT IS A SUCCESSIVE CLAIM, AND BECAUSE IT IS NOT RETROACTIVE TO HIS CASE

1. The Apprendi/Ring claim is procedurally barred.

Gudinas' reliance on Ring to support a Sixth Amendment claim is procedurally barred because this Court has already decided this claim adversely to Gudinas in the decision denying relief in his first collateral attack proceedings. Gudinas is not entitled to a second bite at the apple on a claim that has already been resolved against him. The Apprendi/Ring claim is res judicata, and this Court should expressly deny relief on that basis in order to protect the integrity of Florida's well-settled procedural rules, which have not been, and should not be, suspended for Gudinas' benefit.

addition to being barred as res judicata, the Apprendi/Ring claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial and on direct appeal. The issue in Ring (which is merely an extension of Apprendi, anyway) is by no means new or novel -- that claim, or a variation of it, has been known since before the United States Supreme Court's 1976 decision in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976) (holding that the Constitution does not require sentencing). The basis for a claim that the sentence imposed in this case violated Gudinas' right to a jury trial has been available since he was sentenced to death -- he raised this claim after Apprendi4 was decided, as did other Florida death row inmates, who have been raising the same claim since well prior to Ring. See, Mills, infra. There is nothing magical about an Apprendi claim (which Gudinas has already litigated), and, despite the pretensions of Gudinas' brief, Ring is nothing more than the application of Apprendi to capital cases. There is no justification for a departure by this Court from application of the well-settled State procedural bar rules, which this Court

⁴ Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), was released on June 26, 2000. Any claims based on that case which are related to Gudinas' **non-capital** convictions are clearly untimely because they were not raised until more than two years after Apprendi was released. Rule 3.851(d), Fla. R. Crim. P.

reaffirmed in F.B. v. State, SC02-1156 (Fla., July 11, 2003). The Apprendi claim is procedurally barred, and all relief should be denied on that basis. See, e.g., Bundy v. State, 538 So. 2d 445 (Fla. 1985).

2. The aggravators in Gudinas' case fall outside the scope of Apprendi/Ring, and reliance on those decisions is misplaced.

In addition to being procedurally barred, Apprendi/Ring does not provide a basis for relief in this case because the rule of law set out in those cases is inapplicable to the facts of Gudinas' case. Two of the three aggravators applicable in this case fall outside of any conceivable interpretation of Apprendi/Ring.

One of the aggravating circumstances is Gudinas' prior violent felony conviction. Under the plain language of Apprendi, a prior violent felony conviction is a fact which may be a basis to impose a sentence higher than that authorized by the jury's

⁵ In F.B. v. State, this Court was explicit in holding that the only exception to the contemporaneous objection rule (which Gudinas clearly did not follow) is when the error is fundamental. In this case, there is no error at all under Apprendi/Ring, and, because that is so, the contemporaneous objection rule applies and should be enforced by this Court.

 $^{^6}$ The aggravators found in this case were murder during a sexual battery, prior violent felony conviction, and HAC. Gudinas v. State, 693 So. 2d at 968 n.18.

verdict without the need for additional jury findings. There is no constitutional violation (nor can there be) because the prior conviction constitutes a jury finding which the judge may rely upon, without additional jury findings, in imposing sentence. See Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224 (1998); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). Under any view of the law, and even after Ring, the jury is not required to make a determination of the prior violent felony aggravator, and that aggravating circumstance can be found by the judge alone.

Under any interpretation of the facts, the prior violent felony conviction and the "during the commission of a felony" aggravating circumstance (which is supported by two sexual battery convictions) obviate any possible Sixth Amendment error. These two aggravating circumstances are outside of the Apprendi/Ring holding, 8 and, because that is so, those decisions

⁷ Of course, under Florida law, death is the maximum possible sentence for the crime of first degree murder, and that is the defendant's sentence exposure upon conviction. See Section B, infra. The "higher than authorized by the jury" component of Apprendi is not applicable to the capital sentencing process in Florida, but that distinction does not affect the basic premise that a prior felony conviction is a fact that has already been found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and does not need to be (and as a policy matter should not be) "re-proven."

⁸ The Apprendi Court cited to Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 243 n.6 (1999), for the proposition that under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments, "any fact (other than prior

are of no help to Gudinas. Gudinas' claim collapses because Apprendi/Ring is inapplicable to the facts of this case. No relief is justified.

3. Ring is not retroactive to Gudinas' case.

In addition to being procedurally barred and factually inapplicable, no court to consider the issue has held Apprendi to be retroactive and Ring is "simply an extension of Apprendi to the death penalty context." Cannon v. Mullin, 297 F. 3d 989

conviction) that increases the maximum penalty for a crime must be charged in an indictment, submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt." Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476 (2000). [emphasis added]. The Court has already clearly said that death is the maximum penalty for first degree murder, so that component of the statement has no application to Florida law. In any event, Gudinas' prior violent felony conviction, and the murder during a sexual battery aggravator, are outside any possible (or reasonable) interpretation of Apprendi and Ring.

⁹Coleman v. United States, 329 F.3d 77 (2nd Cir. 2003); Goode v. United States, 305 F.3d 378, 382-85 (6th Cir. 2002); United States v. Brown, 305 F.3d 304, 307-10 (5th. Cir. 2002); United States v. Wiseman, 297 F.3d 975, (10th Cir. 2002); United States v. Dowdy, 2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 12559 (9th Cir. June 20, 2002); Curtis v. United States, 294 F.3d 841, 843-44 (7th Cir. 2002); United States v. Mora, 293 F.3d 1213, 1218-19 (10th Cir. Hines v. United States, 282 F.3d 1002 (8th Cir. 2002); United States v. Sanchez-Cervantes, 282 F.3d 664, 668 (9th Cir. 2002); In re Turner, 267 F.3d 225, 227 (3rd Cir. 2001); McCoy v. United States, 266 F.3d 1245 (11th Cir. 2001); Forbes v. United States, 262 F.3d 143, 144 (2nd Cir. 2001); United States v. Moss, 252 F.3d 993 (8th Cir. 2001); Sanders v. United States, 247 F.3d 139, 151 (4th Cir. 2001); In re Tatum, 233 F.3d 857, 859 (5th Cir. 2000); Jones v. Smith, 231 F.3d 1227 (9th Cir. 2001); Sustache-Rivera v. United States, 221 F.3d 8, 15 n.12 (1st Cir. 2000).

(10th Cir. 2002), cert. and stay of execution denied, 536 U.S. 974 (U.S. July 23, 2002)¹⁰; In re Johnson, 2003 U.S. App. LEXIS 11514 (5th Cir., June 10, 2003) ("Since the rule in Ring is essentially an application of Apprendi, logical consistency suggests that the rule announced in Ring is not retroactively available."). The First and Fourth District Courts of Appeal have held that Apprendi is not retroactive, as has the Kansas Supreme Court. Figarola v. State, 841 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 4th DCA)

The Cannon Court held, post-Ring, that under Tyler v. Cain, 533 U.S. 656, 661 (2001) "'under this provision, the Supreme Court is the only entity that can 'ma[k]e' a new rule retroactive. The new rule becomes retroactive, not by the decisions of the lower courts or by the combined action of the Supreme Court and the lower courts, but simply by the action of the Supreme Court.'"

¹¹ The Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals has held that Apprendi is not retroactive to collateral review cases. See, Poole v. State, 2001 WL 996300 (Ala. Crim. App. 2001). The Minnesota Court of Appeals refused to apply Apprendi retroactively, holding that it was not a watershed rule of criminal procedure, and that the rule did nothing to enhance the accuracy of a criminal conviction. Meemken v. State, 2003 Minn. App. LEXIS 661 (June 3, 2003). The Missouri Supreme Court seems to be the only court that has held that Ring is retroactively applicable. State v. Whitfield, 2003 Mo. LEXIS 105 (Mo. S.Ct. June 17, 2003). The retroactive application of Ring inconsistent and irreconcilable with the same Court's holding that Apprendi is **not** retroactive. State ex. rel. Nixon v. Sprick, 59 S.W. 3d 515 (Mo. 2001). The conflicting results reached by the Missouri Supreme Court suggest that reliance on Whitfield would be ill-advised. The Nebraska Supreme Court has held that Ring is not retroactively applicable. State v. Lotter, 2003 Neb. LEXIS 111 (July 11, 2003).

2003); Hughes v. State, 826 So. 2d 1070 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) (certifying question); Whisler v. State, 36 P.3d 290 (Kan. 2001). 12 The United States Supreme Court has previously held that a violation of the right to a jury trial is not retroactive, DeStefano v. Woods, 392 U.S. 631, 88 S.Ct. 2093, 20 L.Ed.2d 1308 (1968), and, because that is the law, neither is a wholly procedural ruling like Apprendi or Ring. It is the prerogative of the United States Supreme Court to make the retroactivity determination -- that Court has not held Apprendi/Ring retroactive, and has refused to review cases declining to apply those decisions in that fashion. Cannon, supra. Ring, like Apprendi, is merely a procedural ruling which falls far short of being of "fundamental significance."

Moreover, the *Ring* decision is not retroactively applicable under *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-30 (Fla. 1980). Under *Witt*, *Ring* is not retroactively applicable **unless** it is a decision of fundamental significance, which so drastically alters the underpinnings of Gudinas' death sentence that

¹² An Apprendi claim is not "plain error, "either. United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625 (2002)(indictment's failure to include the quantity of drugs was an Apprendi error but did not seriously affect fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings, and thus did not rise to level of plain error). If an error is not plain error for direct appeal purposes, it is not of sufficient importance to be retroactively applicable to collateral proceedings.

"obvious injustice" exists. New v. State, 807 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, 536 U.S. 942 (2002). In determining whether this standard has been met, this Court must consider three factors: the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001). Neither Apprendi nor Ring meet that standard, either.

4. The Apprendi/Ring claim is meritless.

Finally, without waiving the foregoing, the claim raised by Gudinas has been expressly rejected. See Lugo v. State, 845 So. 2d 74, 119 (Fla. 2003); Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003)("Ring does not require either notice of the aggravating factors that the State will present at sentencing or a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury."); Conahan v. State, 844 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 2003); Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2003)(relying on Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 and King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 to a Ring claim in a single aggravator (HAC) case); Banks v. State, 842 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 2003); Spencer v. State, 842 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2003); Grim v. State, 841 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 2003); Cole v. State, 841 So. 2d 409 (Fla. 2003); Anderson v. State, 841 So. 2d

390 (Fla. 2003); Lucas v. State/Moore, 841 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 2003); Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981 (Fla. 2003) ("Contrary to Porter's claims, we have repeatedly held that the maximum penalty under the statute is death and have rejected the other Apprendi arguments."); Fotopoulos v. State/Moore, 838 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 2003); Bruno v. Moore, 838 So. 2d 485 (Fla. 2002), petition for cert. filed, May 9, 2003, No. 02-10848; Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940 (Fla. 2003), petition for cert. filed, April 24, 2003, No. 02-10379; Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 123 S.Ct. 662 (2002); Chavez v. State, 832 So. 2d 730, 767 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 2003 WL 2012625 (Fla. Jun. 23, 2003); King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 123 S.Ct. 657 (2002); Pace v. State/Crosby, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S415 (Fla. May 22, 2003); Jones v. State/Crosby, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S395 (Fla. May 8, 2003); Marquard v. State/Moore, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S389, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S973, 978, n. 12 (Fla. Nov. 21, 2002); Chandler v. State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S329, 333 n. 4 (Fla. Apr. 17, 2003); Lawrence v. State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S241, 243-244 (Fla. Mar. 20, 2003).

B. ARIZONA CAPITAL SENTENCING LAW IS DIFFERENT

FROM FLORIDA'S, AS THIS COURT HAS HELD. 13

The Arizona statute at issue in *Ring* is different from Florida's death sentencing statutes. That distinction, which is central to *Ring*, was not recognized by the United States Supreme Court in *Walton*. Because *Walton* was based on an incorrect interpretation of Arizona law, the suggestion that Florida's statute is invalid because *Walton* has been overruled is spurious. After *Ring*, no good faith argument can be made that Florida's statute is anything like Arizona's, especially in light of this Court's clear interpretation of Florida law (which is clearly not like Arizona law). The *Ring* Court stated:

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